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* Pro forma presentations are not prepared in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). See page 8 for a reconciliation 
of GAAP to pro forma presentations.
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The Corporate Executive Board provides best prac tic es research, decision-support tools, 
and execu tive ed u ca tion to a membership of the world’s leading cor po ra tions and not-for-
profi t in sti tu tions. Our research ad dress es issues re lat ed to corporate strat e gy, op er a tions, 
and general man age ment, and we focus on identifying man age ment in i ti a tives, processes, 
tools, and frame works that will allow our clients to avoid re in vent ing the wheel in ad dress ing 
prob lems they share in com mon with their peers. At its best, our work is able to shape 
stra te gic debate and to ac cel er ate tactical im ple men ta tion in even the most pro gres sive 
or ga ni za tions.

We provide research and analysis on an annual subscription basis to a mem ber ship of more than 
2,300 of the world’s largest and most pres ti gious organizations. For a fi xed annual fee, mem bers 
of each sub scrip tion program have access to an integrated set of services, in clud ing the 
following:

• Best practices research studies
• Decision-support tools
• Executive education seminars
• Customized research briefs
• Web-based access to program content database

Our business formula combines shared-cost research eco nom ics and a mem ber ship-based client 
model, al low ing us to provide data and in sight at the quality standard of the pre mier strategy 
con sult ing fi rms but at a fraction of the cost. The formula also creates a closed loop for 
research. Each year, our clients develop a list of their most press ing business prob lems and 
then serve as case studies in our best practices re search on these issues. We are guided 
by a strong sense of stewardship for our mem bers’ con fi  denc es and fi  nan cial con tri bu tions, 
and we strive in each in ter ac tion to achieve a level of ser vice that is un par al leled in their 
com mer cial ex pe ri ence.

The Corporate Execut ive Board in Br ief

Pro Forma Operating Margins*Annual Revenues
Millions of Dollars
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Continued Strong Financial Performance
In all our communications with shareholders, we have em-
phasized our intention to build in the Corporate Executive 
Board a more predictable, more scalable growth company. 
In 2004, for the sixth straight year since our IPO, we deliv-
ered well against this standard. Revenues grew to $280.7 mil-
lion in 2004 from $210.2 million in 2003—a 34% increase. 
Reported net income for 2004 rose 50.3% to $53.7 million 
from $35.7 million in 2003. Reported earnings per diluted 
share increased to $1.34 in 2004 from 93 cents in 2003. The 
pro forma operating margin continued to improve in 2004, 
to 27%, underscoring the operating leverage inherent in 
our business model and distinguishing us from most other 
professional service fi rms. Pro forma net income increased 
30% to $57.1 million in 2004 from $43.9 million in 2003. 
Cash fl ows from operations, refl ecting non-cash income 
taxes and increasing deferred revenues, were $119.4 million 
in 2004, more than double net income. Pro forma earnings 
per diluted share increased to $1.43 in 2004 from $1.14 in 
2003. The pro forma results presented above exclude the 
noncash lease restructuring charge, net of tax, of $3.5 mil-
lion for 2004 and exclude the noncash income tax charge 

To Our Shareholders
The Corporate Executive Board (CEB) team turned in an-
other year of extraordinary growth and performance in 
2004. As in prior years, we demonstrated the power of the 
CEB value proposition across the economic cycle, helping 
members focus their resources and attention on the most 
critical challenges they face in leading their organizations. 
We also achieved an even higher level of impact this past 
year via continuing innovation to support members’ re-
curring decisions with proprietary content and peer-to-
peer sharing. Finally, we demonstrated the unique ability of 
CEB to achieve enterprise-level impact on challenges that 
cut across multiple corporate functions. No other adviso-
ry service or consultancy available to our members com-
bines CEB’s depth of insight, cross-functional reach, and 
freedom from bias.

Our continuing ability to perform against all our key growth 
metrics is the result of a combination of strong products, a 
solid underlying business model, and excellent execution by 
a highly talented workforce. Our established membership 
programs continue to grow in line with our expectations, 
and our new program launches enjoy accelerating market 
acceptance as we introduce CEB value to new constituencies 
across the corporation. We are honored to serve a global, 
diverse membership of executives and are committed to in-
creasing the value we deliver to member organizations each 
year. In this letter, I would like to call out for you some of 
the signal accomplishments of the past year in service to the 
membership and to share our priorities for the year ahead.

No other advisory service or consultancy 
available to our members combines 

CEB’s depth of insight, cross-functional 
reach, and freedom from bias.

* Pro forma presentations are not prepared in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). See page 8 for a reconciliation 
of GAAP to pro forma presentations.
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dialogue with their peers in the global Corporate Executive 
Board network. The program is off to a fast start and has 
already had substantial member impact with a telecon-
ference aimed at helping Boards of Directors manage the 
new Federal Sentencing Guidelines and a benchmarking 
effort that has helped companies “right size” their compli-
ance efforts.

The launch of fi ve new programs across 2004 is at the high 
end of the target range we announced at the start of the 
year. For 2005, we are targeting an additional fi ve new prod-
uct launches—from the pipeline of more than 90 concepts 
maintained by our new business development team. We will 
continue to discover and pursue growth opportunities with 
the discipline we have demonstrated to date, favoring ad-
jacent, organic growth consistent with our business mod-
el. We calculate the core organic growth opportunity from 
this activity—assuming only our current Global 4200 tar-
get company universe and roughly 15 new programs from 
this list of 90—to be $3.0 billion, more than 10 times our 
current revenue size.

Retaining and Deepening Member Relationships
As much as our strong fi nancial performance marked 
the year, 2004 was even more notable for the retention 
and deepening of our relationships with member insti-
tutions. Our institutional renewal rate increased 1 per-
centage point from its already high level of prior years, 
to 91%, and our cross-sell ratio grew strongly to 3.46 
subscriptions per member institution, up from 2.99 

of $8.2 million recorded within the provision for income 
taxes for 2003.  

This fi nancial performance also allowed us to demonstrate 
our ongoing commitment to return excess cash to share-
holders in a tax-effective manner. To that end, in February 
2005, the Board of Directors increased our quarterly div-
idend to 10 cents per share and put in place an additional 
$100 million share repurchase authorization.

Stamping Out the CEB Formula
We launched fi ve new research programs across the year, 
each focused on the most pressing needs of a senior exec-
utive constituency in leading corporations, fi nancial insti-
tutions and not-for-profi t organizations. The Controllers’ 
Leadership Roundtable was launched at the start of 2004, 
and across the year we added the Communications Exec-
utive Council, Tax Director Roundtable, and Customer 
Contact Council. Our fi nal launch of the year, the Compli-
ance and Ethics Leadership Council, is an extension of our 
fast-growing legal and governance practice. Let me pause 
a moment and share some more details about this exciting 
new program.

As with all our new program launches, the design and re-
search agenda for the Compliance and Ethics Leadership 
Council were directed by a group of charter advisors, includ-
ing heads of compliance from Bank of America, Home De-
pot, and Lockheed Martin. These executives typically have 
responsibility for ensuring that their companies develop, 
implement, and monitor programs to secure legal and reg-
ulatory compliance. In addition, they often have respon-
sibility for developing and maintaining ethical standards 
within their companies.

Given increasing public concern about compliance issues 
and increasingly severe legal consequences for missteps, 
you can imagine that these executives were eager to join in 

The Expanding Reach of the Corporate Executive Board

•  CEB staff created and delivered record levels of content to our 
clients last year with 151 new best practices studies, more than 
29,000 fast-cycle projects, more than 350 membership meetings, 
and more than 4,300 on-site executive education sessions

•  We also expanded the membership network, adding more than 
200 new client companies and more than 1,800 new program 
subscriptions

•  Across the year, we presented our work to more than 145,000 
executives in a variety of meeting formats—no other organization 
we know of comes close to this level of senior executive 
penetration at the largest companies in the world

We calculate our core organic growth 
opportunity to be $3.0 billion, more than 

10 times our current revenue size.

9 Practice Areas

8,200 Program Subscriptions

2,300 Client Companies

145,000 Participating Executives

32 Membership Programs

42 Countries
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at the end of 2003. We also increased prices modestly 
to support new service introductions and overall pro-
gram development. These three key performance mea-
sures—member renewal rate, cross-sell ratio, and steady 
price increases—work together to reaffi rm the funda-
mental value of the CEB product in the eyes of our cur-
rent customers.

We created and delivered record levels of content to our 
clients last year: 151 new full-length best practices studies, 
more than 29,000 fast-cycle projects, 350-plus in-person 
membership meetings, 500-plus teleconferences, and more 
than 4,300 on-site executive education sessions, reaching 
in excess of 145,000 executives across the year. The CEB’s 
deep penetration into the executive ranks of member insti-
tutions is an important measure of our perceived value to 
the current and future leaders of these organizations. From 
this perspective, here’s how to think of the expanding reach 
of the Corporate Executive Board: 9 practice areas encom-

passing 32 membership programs involving 2,300 client 
institutions across 8,200 program subscriptions, with di-
rect impact on 145,000 executives. No other organization 
we know of comes close to this level of senior executive 
penetration at the largest companies in the world.

Embedding Deeply into Member Workfl ow
We’ve highlighted in prior reports to shareholders the ex-
traordinary growth and low marginal cost of our suite of 
online services and capabilities. These positive trends con-
tinued in 2004: overall, our 32 separately branded, members-
only Web sites attracted 46% more visitors, 43% more page 
views, and 41% more downloads than in the prior year.

One factor that explains this jump in usage is our focus on 
developing tools and content that enable us to embed deep-
ly into our members’ workfl ow. A great example of this is 
the new Audit Planning Resource Center, created by our 
Audit Director Roundtable to assist internal auditors in 
the timely challenge of ensuring the integrity of their audit 
planning controls. At all stages of plan design and commu-
nication, members can consult this resource to see real-
world peer examples, including board committee charters 
and presentations.

Member executives fi nd content such as this deeply habit-
forming and are integrating these resources into every stage 
of their work processes. Our individual programs represent 
a rich laboratory for innovation and testing, and we are able 
to transfer the best of these practices quickly across our ex-
panding suite of programs. Even more exciting, our model 
gives us the privilege of accelerating the pace at which the 
best management ideas move across companies, industries, 
and continents.

360-Degree Perspective on Corporate Concerns
In our presentations to investors, we emphasize the core 
CEB assets that serve as substantial barriers to entry—
our proprietary content assets and our extensive membership 
network, now comprising more than 80% of the Fortune 
500 and encompassing most of the major functional areas 
and disciplines in the large organization. The breadth and 
depth of CEB’s content coverage enable us to create unique 

A Fortune 500 CIO recently told us, 
‘Your organization has credibility outside 
of IT. My internal customers—the CFO, 
head of HR, and General Counsel—all 

belong to CEB memberships. You give me 
credibility [other advisors] can’t match.’

Embedding Deeply into Member Workfl ow

• CEB continues to expand the capabilities of the online channel, developing tools 
and content that enable us to embed deeply into our members’ workfl ow

• Some notable examples from 2004: 
– An Audit Planning Resource Center that enables internal auditors to build their 

audit plan and to review peer board committee charters and board presentations
– A Contracts Database that enables General Counsel to benchmark contract 

terms and to avoid costly and unnecessary replication of existing models
– A Sales Compensation Planner that guides sales executives in building 

compensation plans based on “gold-standard” peer experience

• Through rapid transfer of our best practices internally, CEB is able to accelerate 
the movement of great ideas across companies, industries, and continents
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value for our members by bringing together constituencies 
across the enterprise to address issues of strategic cross-
functional concern.

For example, in April 2005 we convened a Risk Summit in 
New York City to help our members reconcile the disparate—
and sometimes confl icting—risk mitigation efforts under 
way in their organizations. We extended an invitation to fi ve 
of our memberships most directly concerned with some as-
pect of risk management and were gratifi ed by the response: 
more than 200 of our members—CFOs, auditors, treasur-
ers, information security, and compliance offi cers—attend-
ed the event, which contained a mix of CEB and member 
presentations. As you might imagine, the need for standard 
setting is urgent in a volatile area such as risk management, 
and most of the members in attendance were keen to dis-
cover what their peers are doing and what other constituen-
cies in their organizations are expecting of them. Attendees 
brought a healthy skepticism toward formal enterprise risk 
management frameworks to the summit, a skepticism that 
we seconded in our own research. Instead, the leading com-
panies had recognized that the most critical strategic risks 
reside largely in the business units and, therefore, have to 
be identifi ed and mitigated at that level.

As new, cross-functional challenges arise for our members, 
we will continue to seek out opportunities such as these to put 
our unique network and resources to use for our members. 

A Fortune 500 CIO recently told us, “Your organization 
has credibility outside of IT. My internal customers—the 
CFO, head of HR, and General Counsel—all belong to 
CEB memberships. You give me credibility [other advi-
sors] can’t match.”

Attracting Notice Beyond the Membership
In line with prior years, we continue to receive accolades—
unsolicited but appreciated—in business-press rankings of 
fast-growing companies. In 2004, we also enjoyed an un-
precedented level of interest in our research fi ndings from 
the major business dailies and management journals. Our 
2004 research on corporate governance, profi led in the 
Financial Times in January, was the springboard for sever-
al published studies and for a European Governance Sum-
mit in London, co-hosted by British Telecom. Our fi nance 
practice’s close scrutiny of Sarbanes-Oxley implementa-
tion costs and lessons learned has been featured in the Wall 
Street Journal, the Washington Post, and CFO magazine. A 
white paper titled “Sarbanes-Oxley: What Happened, What’s 
Next, and How to Protect Your Company from the Biggest 
Emerging Risks” is available on our Web site for investors 
interested in the subject.

Perhaps our proudest appearance in 2004 occurred at the end 
of the year, when a profi le of our Corporate Leadership Coun-
cil’s groundbreaking research into employee engagement 
appeared in the December 2004 Harvard Business Review. 
We shared a limited set of fi ndings from the Council’s glob-
al survey of more than 50,000 employees drawn from mem-
ber institutions around the world, as well as some insights 
into how the best managers approach this very important 
responsibility. We knew this research would fi nd an eager 
audience in the Review, and it was a thrill for the team that 
conducted the initiative to see their work showcased in such 
a prestigious publication.

Attracting Notice Beyond the Membership

• The Corporate Executive Board continues to receive accolades from the business 
press for our corporate performance as well as for our unique culture and 
attractiveness as a destination for top talent

• CEB’s research also attracted some notice from the major business dailies and 
management journals in the United States and abroad across 2004; perhaps our 
proudest accomplishment was a profi le of our Corporate Leadership Council’s 
groundbreaking research into employee engagement in the December 2004 issue 
of Harvard Business Review

• The Council’s insights into best practices in employee engagement have been very 
powerful for our HR membership; in addition, the research is powerful validation 
of CEB’s own focus on workforce development and performance management, to 
which we devote substantial managerial time and resources

We focus more managerial time and 
resources on staff development than 

any other fi rm we are aware of, but the 
results in staff advancement and retention 

are well worth the investment. 
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James J. McGonigle
Chairman and 
Chief Executive Offi cer

I should note as well that we were gratifi ed by the degree to 
which the Council’s research on engagement validated our 
own practices and investment in workforce development 
and performance management. In line with the best-per-
forming companies in the survey, we create development 
plans for all our staff, and we monitor follow-through on 
those plans rigorously. What particularly distinguishes CEB 
is the extensive investment our managers make in supporting 
each others’ development efforts: CEB managers spend an 
average of 30 hours each year in meetings with their peers, 
cross-calibrating staff reviews to ensure consistency across 
the fi rm and counseling fellow managers on the best strat-
egies to employ to accomplish specifi c staff development 
objectives. We focus more managerial time and resources 
on staff development than any other fi rm we are aware of, 
but the results in staff advancement and retention are well 
worth the investment. 

Strategic Priorities for Management in 2005
While 2005 will see a transition in leadership in CEB, the 
year will very much be a story of strategic and leadership 
continuity. On July 1, 2005, Tom Monahan will step up to 
assume the CEO role, and I will remain as Executive Chair-
man. This is a transition we have planned for some time 
now, and about which we are all excited. Tom is a nine-year 
CEB veteran, the only other insider on our Board, who has 
been running the fi rm’s largest operating division for the 
past several years. Tom brings to the role a unique under-
standing of the CEB products and business model, a track 
record of innovation and visionary leadership, and heartfelt 
commitment to our people and their success. He has been 
a great operating partner to me, and I look forward to con-
tinuing that partnership as I shift my portfolio to longer-
term growth planning and talent development.

As to our priorities, investors will continue to see the dis-
ciplined execution you have come to expect from us. With 
an established business model, an ambitious growth plan, 
and a $3 billion organic growth opportunity, the manage-

We enjoy very high career-staff retention 
rates and typically see more than 85% 

of candidates accept their offer to join CEB. 
In 2005, we will work very hard to ensure 

that CEB continues to be a compelling 
destination for the world’s top research, 

service, and sales talent.

ment team of CEB will remain tightly focused across 2005 
on four strategic priorities:

 1. Adding new subscribers to existing research programs. 
New subscribers join us in the form of cross-sales to 
existing client companies and fi rst sales to new com-
panies—both of which ran at the top end of their re-
spective target ranges for 2004.

 2. Continuing our focus on new product development 
as we stamp out the CEB formula across new func-
tions and constituencies across the large corporation. 
We plan to launch fi ve new programs this year and to 
sustain the momentum of our great 2004 launches.

 3. Producing leading-edge tools and content to deliver 
powerful, actionable insights on the most urgent prob-
lems facing senior executives in our memberships. Be-
yond the core research product, we also continue to 
invest to create decision-support tools, databases, tele-
conferences, and other enhancements that strengthen 
our core product offerings and embed us ever more 
deeply in members’ workfl ow.

 4. Recruiting, developing, and retaining the talent we need 
to support our growth ambitions and the development 
ambitions of our extraordinary workforce. We enjoy 
very high career-staff retention rates and typically see 
more than 85% of candidates accept their offer to join 
CEB. In 2005, we will work very hard to ensure that 
CEB continues to be a compelling destination for the 
world’s top research, service, and sales talent.

In closing, let me offer a statement of personal appreciation 
to everyone involved with CEB—our members, our staff, 
our investors, and our Board—for the privilege of lead-
ing this organization as CEO across the past decade. I am 
proud of the organization we are building and of the per-
sonal and professional development opportunities available 
to our staff. We tell new recruits that CEB distinguishes it-
self in the uniqueness of our business model, the strength of 
our commitment to mission and core values, and the sheer 
quality of the colleagues they fi nd here. From my vantage 
as CEO, I can attest to the enduring importance and poten-
cy of all three of these advantages.

To all of our shareholders, we appreciate the trust you have 
placed in us across this past year, and we are grateful for your 
continuing support of our efforts and mission.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA AND OPERATING DATA

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data. The selected financial data presented below as of December 
31, 2000 and 2001, and for the years then ended have been derived from our consolidated financial statements that were audited 
by Arthur Andersen LLP. The selected financial data presented below as of December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, and for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, have been derived from our consolidated financial statements that were 
audited by Ernst & Young LLP. You should read the selected financial data presented below in conjunction with our consolidated 
financial statements, the notes to our consolidated financial statements, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations” appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Year Ended December 31,

 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Consolidated Statements of Income Data

Revenues ....................................................................................... $ 95,491 $ 128,112 $ 162,357 $ 210,211 $ 280,724
Costs and expenses

Cost of services ........................................................................ 36,094 45,738 56,147 70,974 91,285

Member relations and marketing ........................................... 21,236 30,219 40,768 55,301 75,460

General and administrative ..................................................... 12,021 15,877 17,493 21,632 31,130

Depreciation ............................................................................. 2,573 4,412 5,456 5,764 6,782

Non-cash lease restructuring costs ......................................... — — — — 5,210

Stock option and related expenses (1) (2) .............................. 1,371 1,260 668 114 408

Total costs and expenses ..................................................... 73,295 97,506 120,532 153,785 210,275

Income from operations .............................................................. 22,196 30,606 41,825 56,426 70,449

Other income, net ........................................................................ 2,263 4,283 6,346 7,569 9,936

Income before provision for income taxes ................................. 24,459 34,889 48,171 63,995 80,385

Provision for income taxes .......................................................... 9,539 13,257 18,570 28,307 26,729

Net income ................................................................................... $ 14,920 $ 21,632 $ 29,601 $ 35,688 $ 53,656

Earnings per share—basic ........................................................... $ 0.49 $ 0.64 $ 0.81 $ 0.96 $ 1.40

Weighted average shares outstanding—basic ............................. 30,321 34,003 36,722 37,296 38,344

Earnings per share—diluted ........................................................ $ 0.43 $ 0.59 $ 0.79 $ 0.93 $ 1.34

Weighted average shares outstanding—diluted ......................... 34,638 36,465 37,671 38,577 39,925

Cash dividends declared per common share .............................. $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 0.30

 Year Ended December 31,

 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

(In thousands)
Consolidated  Balance Sheet Data

Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities ..................... $ 69,373 $ 132,469 $ 225,941 $ 293,919 $ 416,977

Deferred income taxes ................................................................. 31,348 58,520 59,726 37,673 29,587

Total assets .................................................................................... 152,494 257,518 359,581 423,482 578,451

Deferred revenues ........................................................................ 71,281 94,683 121,415 154,844 205,494

Total stockholders’ equity ............................................................ 65,561 143,984 213,357 241,993 327,461

 Year Ended December 31,

 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
Other Operating Data (Unaudited)

Membership programs ................................................................ 15 18 22 26 31

Member institutions .................................................................... 1,745 1,802 1,930 2,143 2,368

Total membership subscriptions ................................................. 3,543 4,364 5,257 6,414 8,202

Average subscriptions per member institution .......................... 2.03 2.42 2.72 2.99 3.46

Client renewal rate (3) ................................................................. 90% 90% 90% 90% 91%

Contract value (in thousands of dollars) (4) .............................. $ 108,542 $ 138,474 $ 176,533 $ 227,913 $ 294,949
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Notes to Selected Financial Data and Operating Data

(1) In connection with our spin-off from The Advisory Board Company in October 1997, we substituted our stock options for 
The Advisory Board Company stock options. The terms of the stock option substitution resulted in compensation expense 
being charged for the intrinsic value of certain stock options. We refl ect these charges as stock option expenses over the 
vesting period of the options. After calendar year 2001, we recognized no additional compensation expense related to these 
substitution agreements.

(2) For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002, 2003, and 2004, we recognized $1.1 million; $668,000; $114,000; and $408,000, 
respectively, in compensation expense, refl ecting additional Federal Insurance Corporation Act (“FICA”) taxes as a result of 
the taxable income that the employees recognized upon the exercise of nonqualifi ed common stock options, primarily in 
conjunction with the registered public offerings in March and April 2001, March 2002 and 2003, and May 2004, respectively. 
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Years Ended December 31, 
2002, 2003, and 2004—Stock option and related expenses.”

(3) For the year then ended. Client renewal rate is defi ned as the percentage of membership institutions renewed, adjusted to 
refl ect reductions in membership institutions resulting from mergers and acquisitions of members.

(4) For the year then ended. Contract value is defi ned as the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to all agreements in effect 
at a given date without regard to the remaining duration of any such agreement.

Reconciliation of GAAP to Pro Forma Presentation

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

in 
Thousands

% of 
Annual 
Revenue

in 
Thousands

% of 
Annual 
Revenue

in 
Thousands

% of 
Annual 
Revenue

in 
Thousands

% of 
Annual 
Revenue

in 
Thousands

% of 
Annual 
Revenue

Pro Forma Operating Margins*

Income from operations ........ $ 22,196 23.2% $ 30,606 23.9% $ 41,825 25.8% $ 56,426 26.8% $ 70,449 25.1%

Stock option and related 
expenses .................................. 1,371 1.4% 1,260 1.0% 668 0.4% – – – –

Non-cash lease restructuring 
costs, net of tax ....................... – – – – – – – – 5,210 1.9%

Pro forma operating 
margin ..................................... $ 23,567 24.7% $ 31,866 24.9% $ 42,493 26.2% $ 56,426 26.8% $ 75,659 27.0%

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
Pro Forma Net Income (in thousands)*

Net income ................................................................................................................................... $ 14,920 $ 21,632 $ 29,601 $ 35,688 $ 53,656

Stock option and related expenses, net of tax benefit ................................................................ 836 780 410 – –

Adjustment for change in tax status ............................................................................................ – – – 8,192 –

Non-cash lease restructuring costs, net of tax ............................................................................ – – – – 3,478

Pro forma net income .................................................................................................................. $ 15,756 $ 22,412 $ 30,011 $ 43,880 $ 57,134

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
Pro Forma Earnings per Diluted Share*

Earnings per share—diluted ........................................................................................................ $ 0.43 $ 0.59 $ 0.79 $ 0.93 $ 1.34

Per share effect of stock option and related expenses, net of tax benefit .................................. 0.02 0.02 0.01 – –

Per share effect of adjustment for change in tax status .............................................................. – – – 0.21 –

Non-cash lease restructuring costs, net of tax ............................................................................ – – – – 0.09

Pro forma earnings per share—diluted ....................................................................................... $ 0.45 $ 0.61 $ 0.80 $ 1.14 $ 1.43

* Pro forma presentations for the years ended 2000 through 2002 exclude stock option and related expenses and are not prepared in accordance with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The Company has discontinued reporting pro forma fi nancial results to exclude stock option and 
related expenses as of the fi rst quarter 2003.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

We provide “best practices” research, decision-support tools, and executive education focusing on corporate strategy, operations, 
and general management issues. Best practices research supports senior executive decision making by identifying and analyzing 
specific management initiatives, processes, and strategies that have been determined to produce the best results in solving common 
business problems or challenges. For a fixed annual fee, members of each of our research programs have access to an integrated 
set of services, including best practices research studies, executive education seminars, customized research briefs, and Web-based 
access to the program’s content database and decision-support tools.

Memberships, which are principally annually renewable agreements, are generally payable by members at the beginning of the 
contract term. Billings attributable to memberships in our research programs initially are recorded as deferred revenues and 
then recognized pro rata over the membership contract term, which is typically 12 months. At any time, a member may request 
a refund of its membership fee for a research program. Refunds are provided on a pro rata basis relative to the remaining term 
of the membership.

Our growth strategy is to cross-sell additional research programs to existing members, to add new members, and to develop new 
research programs and decision-support tools. The implementation of our growth strategy can be seen in our operating results. 
Over the past three years, our revenues have grown at a compound annual growth rate of 29.9% from $128.1 million in 2001 to 
$280.7 million in 2004, while costs have grown at a compound annual growth rate of 29.2% from $97.5 million in 2001 to $210.3 
million in 2004. In addition, our Contract Value has grown at a compound annual growth rate of 28.7% over the past three years 
and was $294.9 million at December 31, 2004. We calculate Contract Value as the aggregate annualized revenues attributed to all 
agreements in effect at a given point in time, without regard to the remaining duration of any such agreement. Our experience 
has been that a substantial portion of members renew subscriptions for an equal or higher level each year. See the table titled 
“Other Operating Data (Unaudited)” under the heading Selected Financial Data and Operating Data appearing elsewhere in this 
Annual Report, for additional information with respect to members, subscriptions, and renewals.

Our operating costs and expenses generally consist of cost of services, member relations and marketing, general and administrative 
expenses, depreciation, non-cash lease restructuring costs, and stock option and related expenses. Cost of services represents the 
costs associated with the production and delivery of our products and services, including compensation of research personnel 
and in-house faculty, the production of published materials, the organization of executive education seminars, and all associated 
support services. Member relations and marketing expenses includes the costs of acquiring new members, the costs of maintaining 
and renewing existing members, compensation expense (including sales commissions), travel, and all associated support services. 
General and administrative expenses includes the costs of human resources and recruiting, finance and accounting, management 
information systems, facilities management, new product development, and other administrative functions. Depreciation expense 
includes the cost of depreciation of our property and equipment, which consists of furniture, fixtures, and equipment; capitalized 
software and Web site development costs; and leasehold improvements. Non-cash lease restructuring costs primarily consists of 
a non-cash charge related to the assumption of several of the Company’s existing lease agreements by a new lessor. Stock option 
and related expenses includes additional payroll taxes for compensation expense relating to the taxable income recognized by 
employees upon the exercise of nonqualified common stock options. The statements below do not include any impact related 
to the expensing of stock options according to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123-R, “Share-Based 
Payment.” See “Note 3: Summary of significant accounting policies” appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain financial data as a percentage of total revenues for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

 2002 2003 2004
Revenues ............................................................................................................................................ 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of services ............................................................................................................................... 34.6 33.8 32.5

Gross profit ........................................................................................................................................ 65.4 66.2 67.5

Costs and expenses
Member relations and marketing .................................................................................................. 25.1 26.3 26.9

General and administrative ........................................................................................................... 10.8 10.3 11.1

Depreciation ................................................................................................................................... 3.4 2.7 2.4

Non-cash lease restructuring costs ................................................................................................ — — 1.9

Stock option and related expenses ................................................................................................ 0.4 0.1 0.1

Total costs and expenses ............................................................................................................. 39.7 39.4 42.4

Income from operations ................................................................................................................... 25.8 26.8 25.1
Other income, net ............................................................................................................................. 3.9 3.6 3.5

Income before provision for income taxes ...................................................................................... 29.7 30.4 28.6
Provision for income taxes ............................................................................................................... 11.4 13.5 9.5

Net income ........................................................................................................................................ 18.2% 17.0% 19.1%
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Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004

Revenues. Revenues increased 29.5% from $162.4 million for 2002 to $210.2 million for 2003 and 33.5% to $280.7 million for 
2004. The largest driver of the increase in revenues during 2002, 2003, and 2004 was the cross-selling of additional subscriptions to 
existing members. Other drivers contributing to the increase in revenues during 2002, 2003, and 2004 included the introduction of 
new research programs, price increases, and the addition of new members. The average membership subscription price increased 
5.8% in 2002, 5.8% in 2003, and 1.2% in 2004. We introduced four new research programs during each of 2002 and 2003 and 
five new research programs during 2004.

Cost of services. Cost of services increased 26.4% from $56.1 million for 2002 to $71.0 million for 2003 and 28.6% to $91.3 million 
for 2004. The increase in cost of services was principally due to increased compensation costs for new research and executive 
education staff, an increase in external consulting expenses to support the growth of our existing programs, an increase in travel 
costs due to an increase of executive education seminars, and new program launches. Cost of services as a percentage of revenues 
decreased from 34.6% for 2002 to 33.8% for 2003 and to 32.5% for 2004. The decrease in cost of services as a percentage of 
revenues over the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, is due to the leverage inherent in our membership-based model. 
Because each research program provides our membership with standardized best practices research studies and executive 
education seminars, new members immediately add to our revenues while only incrementally increasing our operating costs. Cost 
of services as a percentage of revenues may fluctuate due to the timing of the completion and delivery of best practices research 
studies, the timing of executive education seminars, the introduction of new membership programs, and the fixed nature of a 
portion of the production costs of best practices research studies, as these costs are not significantly affected by growth in the 
number of membership subscriptions.

Gross profit. Historically, the gross profit as a percentage of revenues, or gross profit margin, has fluctuated based upon the 
growth in revenues offset by the costs of delivering best practices research studies, the timing of executive education seminars, 
the hiring of personnel, and the introduction of new membership programs. Accordingly, the gross profit margin for the year 
ended December 31, 2004, may not be indicative of future results. A number of the factors that impact gross profit margin are 
discussed in the “Cost of services” entry above.

Member relations and marketing. Member relations and marketing costs increased 35.6% from $40.8 million for 2002 to $55.3 
million for 2003 and 36.5% to $75.5 million for 2004. The year-over-year increases in member relations and marketing costs 
are principally due to an increase in member relations and marketing personnel and related costs, an increase in travel expenses 
associated with new sales staff, an increase in commission expense associated with increased revenues, and an increase in member 
relations personnel and related costs to support our expanding membership base. The increase in member relations and marketing 
costs as a percentage of revenues over the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, is due primarily to the changes in member 
relations and marketing costs noted above.

General and administrative. General and administrative expenses increased 23.7% from $17.5 million for 2002 to $21.6 million 
for 2003 and 43.9% to $31.1 million for 2004. The year-over-year increases in general and administrative expenses are principally 
due to the increase in staff and related costs across all functional areas to support our growth. During 2002, we also experienced 
a decrease in consulting and training expenses associated with prior year investments in management information systems 
software, along with a decrease in costs associated with our reduced use of external personnel search firms. During 2003, we 
also experienced an increase in management information system consulting services and other external consultants to support 
organizational growth. During 2004, we also experienced an increase in the use of external financial, legal, and information 
technology consultants to support our organizational growth and assist us in the compliance with certain regulatory requirements. 
In addition, in August 2004, the Company entered into a new lease agreement for office facilities in Rosslyn, Virginia, beginning 
in 2008. In association with the new lease agreement, we incurred $909,000 of additional external financial and legal consulting 
costs to restructure existing lease agreements and to expense certain deferred leasehold improvement costs for office space that 
we will no longer occupy. See further discussion of the new lease agreement in the “Non-cash lease restructuring costs” section 
below. Although general and administrative expenses increased during the period from 2002 to 2004, general and administrative 
expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased from 2002 to 2003 and increased from 2003 to 2004. The decrease in general and 
administrative expenses from 2002 to 2003 was due to the fixed nature of a portion of these costs, which are not significantly 
affected by growth in revenue. The increase in general and administrative expenses from 2003 to 2004 was due to an increase in 
the use of external financial, legal, and information technology consultants to support our organizational growth and assist us in 
the compliance with certain regulatory requirements and due to additional external financial and legal consulting costs associated 
with the new lease agreement for office facilities in Rosslyn, Virginia, as described and referenced above.

Depreciation. Depreciation expense increased 5.6% from $5.5 million for 2002 to $5.8 million for 2003 and 17.7% to $6.8 million 
for 2004. The year-over-year increases in depreciation expense were principally due to the additional investment in leasehold 
improvements for additional office space in the Washington, D.C., and London offices and the purchase of computer equipment 
and management information systems software to support organizational growth.
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Non-cash lease restructuring costs. In August 2004, we entered into a new 20-year lease agreement for office facilities in Rosslyn, 
Virginia, beginning in early 2008. Contemporaneously with the signing of the new Virginia office facilities lease, our previous 
obligations for several existing office facility leases were assigned to, and assumed by, the lessor of the new Virginia office facilities. 
As a result, we recorded a $5.2 million, net non-cash lease restructuring charge comprising the items further described below. We 
recorded a non-cash charge of $5.4 million, which represents our estimate of the lease incentives attributable to the assumption 
of the previous lease agreements by the new lessor. We will recognize the $5.4 million lease incentive on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the new Virginia office facilities lease. We also recorded a non-cash charge of $125,000, which represents our estimate 
of certain restoration costs we may be required to pay for office space we will no longer occupy. In addition, we recorded a non-
cash benefit of approximately $351,000 for the reversal of a portion of certain deferred rental obligations that were previously 
being recognized over the life of the original lease term, resulting in constant rent expense over the original lease term. The 
assumption of the lease agreement resulted in the reduction of the original lease term and, therefore, the reversal of rent expense 
previously recognized for deferred rental obligations that we will no longer incur. We incurred no charges similar to this in the 
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003.

Stock option and related expenses. We recognized $668,000; $114,000; and $408,000 in compensation expense during the years 
ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, respectively, reflecting additional Federal Insurance Corporation Act (“FICA”) taxes 
as a result of the taxable income that our employees recognized upon the exercise of non-qualified common stock options, 
primarily in conjunction with the sale of our common stock in the registered public offerings of common stock in March 2002 
and 2003 and May 2004. Further discussion of the sale of our common stock in the registered public offerings of common stock 
appears in the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section below.

Other income, net. Other income, net, consists primarily of interest income earned on a portfolio of cash and cash equivalents 
and marketable securities and the realized gain on the sale of marketable securities. Other income, net increased 19.3% from $6.3 
million for 2002 to $7.6 million for 2003 and 31.3% to $9.9 million for 2004. The growth in other income, net, was due primarily 
to the increase in interest income associated with the increased level of marketable securities. Marketable securities increased as 
a result of cash flows from operating activities and cash flows from financing activities further discussed in the “Liquidity and 
Capital Resources” section below.

Provision for income taxes. We recorded a provision for income taxes of $18.6 million, $28.3 million, and $26.7 million for 2002, 
2003, and 2004, respectively. The increase in the effective income tax rate from 38.6% for 2002 to 44.2% for 2003 is principally 
due to an $8.2 million non-cash income tax charge to earnings in 2003 to recognize the impact on our deferred tax assets of 
lowering the Washington, D.C.-Qualified High-Technology Company (“QHTC”) income tax rate to zero to reflect our new status 
as a QHTC in Washington, D.C. The decrease in the effective income tax rate from 44.2% for 2003 to 33.3% for 2004 is due to 
the 2003 non-cash charge described above and recognition of the QHTC income tax rate of 0% throughout 2004.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows from operating activities. We have financed our operations to date through funds generated from operating activities. 
Membership subscriptions, which are principally annually renewable agreements, are generally payable by members at the beginning 
of the contract term. The combination of revenue growth and advance payment of membership subscriptions has historically 
resulted in net positive cash flows provided by operating activities. We generated net cash flows from operating activities of $77.9 
million, $89.4 million, and $119.4 million for 2002, 2003, and 2004, respectively. For 2002, 2003, and 2004, operating cash flows 
were generated during the period principally by net income, the utilization of tax benefits created by the exercise of common 
stock options, and the growth in deferred revenues, offset by the growth in membership fees receivable. As of December 31, 2003 
and 2004, we had cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities of $293.9 million and $417.0 million, respectively.

Cash flows from investing activities. We used net cash flows in investing activities of $68.3 million, $31.6 million, and $143.2 million 
during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, respectively. During 2002, 2003, and 2004, investing cash flows were 
used within the applicable period for purchases, net of sales, of available-for-sale marketable securities of $65.2 million, $25.3 
million, and $134.2 million, respectively, and to purchase leasehold improvements for additional office space in Washington, 
D.C., and London and computer software and equipment of $3.1 million, $6.3 million, and $9.0 million, respectively.

Cash flows from financing activities. We generated net cash flows from financing activities of $13.5 million during the year ended 
December 31, 2002. We used net cash flows in financing activities of $10.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2003. 
We generated net cash flows from financing activities of $19.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2004. Cash flows 
provided by financing activities during each of the three years ended December 31, 2004, were primarily attributed to the receipt 
of cash from the exercise of stock options in conjunction with the sale of our common stock by our employees and directors in 
registered public offerings. Cash flows used by financing activities during each of the two years ended December 31, 2004 were 
attributed principally to the repurchase of our common stock. During 2003, we purchased 552,007 shares of common stock at 
a total cost of approximately $19.6 million, and during 2004, we purchased 509,094 shares of our common stock at a total cost 
of approximately $25.7 million. In addition, cash flows used by financing activities during the year ended 2004 included the 
payment of dividends which totaled $11.6 million.
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We have entered into letter of credit agreements of $25.0 million, $2.3 million, $0.7 million, and $0.5 million that expire February 
2005, January 2019, June 2005, and August 2005, respectively, to provide security deposits for certain office space leases. Under 
the terms of the new Rosslyn, Virginia, lease agreement, we have committed to providing the landlord security deposits totaling 
$50 million to be posted in two installments. To date, we have entered into a letter of credit agreement for $25.0 million with a 
commercial bank to provide a security deposit for the Rosslyn, Virginia, lease. We pledged certain assets as collateral under the 
letter of credit agreements. To date, no amounts have been drawn on these agreements.

We lease office facilities in the United States, United Kingdom, and Asia expiring on various dates over the next 23 years. Certain 
lease agreements include provisions for rental escalations and require us to pay for executory costs such as taxes and insurance. 
Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases, excluding executory costs, are $589.8 million.

The following summarizes certain of our operating lease obligations at December 31, 2004:

 Payments Due by Period (in thousands)

 Total < 1 Year 1–3 Years 4–5 Years > 5 Years

Operating leases .................................................................. $ 589,751 $ 10,549 $ 30,901 $ 56,778 $ 491,523

We had no other noncancelable contractual financial obligations at December 31, 2004.

Off–balance sheet arrangements. At December 31, 2003 and 2004, we had no off–balance sheet financing or other arrangements 
with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships (such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special-purpose 
entities) established for purposes of facilitating off–balance sheet financing or other debt arrangements or for other contractually 
narrow or limited purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the following policies as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results of operations. 
This listing is not a comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular 
transaction is specifically dictated by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, with no need for management’s 
judgment in their application. There are also areas in which management’s judgment in selecting any available alternative 
would not produce a materially different result. However, certain of our accounting policies are particularly important to the 
portrayal of our financial position and results of operations and may require the application of significant judgment by our 
management; as a result, they are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. In applying those policies, our management uses 
its judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be used in the determination of certain estimates. Those estimates 
are based on our historical experience, our observance of trends in the industry, information provided by our members, and 
information available from other outside sources, as appropriate. For a more detailed discussion on the application of these and 
other accounting policies, see “Note 3: Summary of significant account policies” in our financial statements and related notes. 
Our critical accounting policies include:

Deferred tax asset. We have deferred income tax assets consisting primarily of net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards for 
regular federal income tax purposes generated from the exercise of common stock options and from federal and Washington, 
D.C., income tax credits. In estimating future tax consequences, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting 
for Income Taxes (“SFAS No. 109”), generally considers all expected future events in the determination and valuation of deferred 
tax assets and liabilities. We believe that our future taxable income will be sufficient for the full realization of the deferred income 
tax assets. However, SFAS No. 109 does not consider the effect of future changes in existing tax laws or rates in the determination 
and evaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities until such new tax laws or rates are enacted. We have established our deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax laws and rates that are expected to apply to taxable income in the 
periods in which the deferred tax asset or liability is expected to be realized or settled. We will recognize as income an adjustment 
for the impact of new tax laws or rates or from changes in our tax status on the existing deferred tax assets and liabilities when 
new tax laws or rates are enacted or the change in our status occurs.

Revenue recognition. Revenues from membership subscriptions are recognized over the term of the related subscription, which 
generally is 12 months. Membership fees generally are billable, and revenue recognition begins when the member agrees to the 
terms of the membership. Certain membership fees are billed on an installment basis. Members may request a refund of their 
membership fees, which is provided on a pro rata basis relative to the length of the remaining membership term. Our policy is 
to record the full amount of membership fees receivable as an asset and related deferred revenue as a liability when a member 
agrees to the terms of a membership. Revenues from membership subscriptions were greater than 95% of total revenues for each 
of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004.

Reserve for uncollectible revenue. We record a reserve for uncollectible revenue based upon management’s analyses and estimates 
as to the collectability of our accounts receivable. As part of our analysis, we examine our collections history, the age of the 
receivables in question, any specific customer-collection issues that we have identified, general market conditions, customer 
concentrations, and current economic trends.

Commission expense recognition. Commission expenses related to the negotiation of new memberships and the renewal of existing 
memberships are deferred and amortized over the term of the related memberships.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our portfolio of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, which 
is designed for safety of principal and liquidity. Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid U.S. Treasury obligations with 
maturities of less than three months. Marketable securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury notes and bonds and insured 
Washington, D.C., tax-exempt notes and bonds. We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to the cash, 
cash equivalents, and marketable securities. This portfolio is subject to inherent interest rate risk as investments mature and are 
reinvested at current market interest rates. We currently do not use derivative financial instruments to adjust our portfolio risk 
or income profile.

A Note About Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report, including information incorporated into this document by reference, contains forward-looking statements 
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
Statements that are not historical facts, including statements about our beliefs or expectations, are forward-looking statements 
and are contained throughout this Annual Report, including under the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” These statements are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions 
and on information currently available to our management. Forward-looking statements include the information concerning 
our possible or assumed results of operations, business strategies, financing plans, competitive position, and potential growth 
opportunities. Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical facts and can be identified by the use 
of forward-looking terminology such as the words “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “plans,” “estimates,” or similar 
expressions.

Forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed 
in these forward-looking statements. You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. All forward-looking 
statements contained in this Annual Report are qualified by these cautionary statements and are made only as of the date of this 
Annual Report. We undertake no obligation, other than as required by law, to update or revise publicly any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

You should understand that many important factors could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed in these 
forward-looking statements. Among the factors that could cause our future results to differ from those reflected in forward-
looking statements are the risks discussed in the Form 10-K that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 
4, 2005, under the heading “Business-Risk Factors.” These factors include:

• Our dependence on renewals of our membership-based services

• Our inability to know in advance whether new products will be successful

• Difficulties in anticipating market trends

• Our need to attract and retain a significant number of highly skilled employees

• Our restriction from selling our products and services to the health care industry

• Continued consolidation in the financial institution industry may adversely impact our business

• Fluctuations in operating results

• Our inability to protect our intellectual property rights

• Our potential exposure to litigation related to content

• Our potential exposure to loss of revenue resulting from our unconditional service guarantee



14

THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share amounts)

 December 31,

 2003 2004

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................................................ $ 118,568 $ 113,996

Marketable securities ........................................................................................................................................ 11,859 50,292

Membership fees receivable, net ...................................................................................................................... 63,160 97,106

Deferred income taxes, net ............................................................................................................................... 30,972 26,121

Deferred incentive compensation .................................................................................................................... 7,332 9,277

Prepaid expenses and other current assets ...................................................................................................... 5,933 8,107

Total current assets ........................................................................................................................................ 237,824 304,899

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES, NET ................................................................................................................... 6,701 3,466

MARKETABLE SECURITIES .............................................................................................................................. 163,492 252,689

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET ................................................................................................................ 15,465 17,397

Total assets ......................................................................................................................................................... $ 423,482 $ 578,451

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ......................................................................................................... $ 12,480 $ 17,450

Accrued incentive compensation ..................................................................................................................... 11,072 18,213

Deferred revenues ............................................................................................................................................. 154,844 205,494

Total current liabilities .................................................................................................................................. 178,396 241,157

OTHER LIABILITIES ........................................................................................................................................... 3,093 9,833

Total liabilities ................................................................................................................................................... 181,489 250,990

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common stock, par value $0.01; 100,000,000 shares authorized and 37,835,075 and 39,991,749 shares issued 
as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively, and 37,283,068 and 38,930,648 shares outstanding as of 
December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively ...................................................................................................... 378 399

Additional paid-in-capital ................................................................................................................................ 143,426 214,987

Retained earnings ............................................................................................................................................. 113,532 155,619

Accumulated elements of other comprehensive income ................................................................................ 4,277 1,763

Treasury stock, 552,007 and 1,061,101 shares, at cost, at December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively ......... (19,620) (45,307)

Total stockholders’ equity ............................................................................................................................. 241,993 327,461

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ...................................................................................................... $ 423,482 $ 578,451

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In thousands, except per-share amounts)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year ended December 31,

 2002 2003 2004

REVENUES ........................................................................................................................... $ 162,357 $ 210,211 $ 280,724

COST OF SERVICES ............................................................................................................ 56,147 70,974 91,285

GROSS PROFIT .................................................................................................................... 106,210 139,237 189,439

COSTS AND EXPENSES

Member relations and marketing .................................................................................... 40,768 55,301 75,460

General and administrative .............................................................................................. 17,493 21,632 31,130

Depreciation ...................................................................................................................... 5,456 5,764 6,782

Non-cash lease restructuring costs .................................................................................. — — 5,210

Stock option and related expenses (1) ............................................................................. 668 114 408

Total costs and expenses ............................................................................................... 64,385 82,811 118,990

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS ......................................................................................... 41,825 56,426 70,449

OTHER INCOME, NET ....................................................................................................... 6,346 7,569 9,936

INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES .................................................. 48,171 63,995 80,385

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES ................................................................................... 18,570 28,307 26,729

NET INCOME ...................................................................................................................... $ 29,601 $ 35,688 $ 53,656

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic ................................................................................................................................... $ 0.81 $ 0.96 $ 1.40

Diluted ............................................................................................................................... $ 0.79 $ 0.93 $ 1.34

Dividends per share .......................................................................................................... $ — $ — $ 0.30

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES USED IN THE CALCULATION OF EARNINGS PER 
SHARE

Basic ................................................................................................................................... 36,722 37,296 38,344

Diluted ............................................................................................................................... 37,671 38,577 39,925

(1) Composition of stock option and related expenses ......................................................

Cost of services ................................................................................................................. $ 343 $ 75 $ 184

Member relations and marketing .................................................................................... 148 5 100

General and administrative .............................................................................................. 177 34 124

Total ............................................................................................................................... $ 668 $ 114 $ 408
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

Year ended December 31,

 2002 2003 2004

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income ......................................................................................................................... $ 29,601 $ 35,688 $ 53,656

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows provided by operating activities:

Depreciation ................................................................................................................... 5,456 5,764 6,182

Loss on disposition of property and equipment .......................................................... — — 1,162

Deferred income taxes and tax benefits resulting from the exercise of common stock 
options ............................................................................................................................ 18,349 27,171 24,373

Non-cash lease restructuring costs ............................................................................... — — 5,210

Amortization of marketable securities premiums, net ................................................ 1,506 2,185 2,777

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Membership fees receivable, net ................................................................................ (8,345) (12,804) (33,946)

Deferred incentive compensation ............................................................................. (758) (2,358) (1,945)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets ................................................................ (626) (2,265) (1,865)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ................................................................... 1,866 730 4,896

Accrued incentive compensation .............................................................................. 3,273 1,412 7,116

Deferred revenues ...................................................................................................... 26,732 33,429 50,650

Other liabilities ........................................................................................................... 819 493 1,178

Net cash flows provided by  operating  activities ............................................. 77,873 89,445 119,444

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property and equipment, net .................................................................. (3,112) (6,313) (9,002)

Purchases of marketable securities ............................................................................... (116,738) (71,440) (197,049)

Sales and maturities of marketable securities .............................................................. 51,564 46,104 62,865

Net cash flows used in investing  activities ............................................................... (68,286) (31,649) (143,186)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from the exercise of common stock options ................................................. 12,835 8,292 55,495

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan 653 754 931

Purchase of treasury shares ........................................................................................... — (19,620) (25,687)

Payment of dividends .................................................................................................... — — (11,569)

Reimbursement of common stock offering costs ........................................................ 300 175 225

Payment of common stock offering costs .................................................................... (300) (175) (225)

Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities ........................................ 13,488 (10,574) 19,170

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ...................... 23,075 47,222 (4,572)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year .................................................................. 48,271 71,346 118,568

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ............................................................................. $ 71,346 $ 118,568 $ 113,996
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Accumulated 
Elements 
of Other 

Comprehensive 
Income

Additional 
Paid-in-
Capital

Annual 
Comprehensive 

Income

Common Stock
Retained 
Earnings

Treasury 
Stock TotalShares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2001 34,898,060 $ 349 $ 94,221 $ 48,243 $ 1,171 $ — $ 143,984

Issuance of common stock upon 
the exercise of common stock 
options

2,259,653 23 12,812 — — — 12,835 —

Issuance of common stock under 
the employee stock purchase plan

25,133 — 653 — — — 653 —

Tax benefits related to the exercise 
of stock options

— — 22,160 — — — 22,160 —

Unrealized gains on available-for-
sale marketable securities, net 
of tax

— — — — 4,124 — 4,124 4,124

Net income — — — 29,601 — — 29,601 29,601

Balance at December 31, 2002 37,182,846 $ 372 $ 129,846 $ 77,844 $ 5,295 $ — $ 213,357 $ 33,725

Issuance of common stock upon 
the exercise of common stock 
options

626,663 6 8,286 — — — 8,292 —

Issuance of common stock under 
the employee stock purchase plan

25,566 — 754 — — — 754 —

Tax benefits related to the exercise 
of stock options

— — 4,540 — — — 4,540 —

Purchase of treasury stock at cost (552,007) — — — — (19,620) (19,620) —

Unrealized losses on available-for-
sale marketable securities, net of 
tax benefit

— — — — (1,018) — (1,018) (1,018)

Net income — — — 35,688 — — 35,688 35,688

Balance at December 31, 2003 37,283,068 $ 378 $ 143,426 $ 113,532 $ 4,277 $ (19,620) $ 241,993 $ 34,670

Issuance of common stock upon 
the exercise of common stock 
options

2,134,530 21 55,474 — — — 55,495 —

Issuance of common stock under 
the employee stock purchase plan

22,144 — 931 — — — 931 —

Tax benefits related to the exercise 
of stock options

— — 15,156 — — — 15,156 —

Purchase of treasury stock at cost (509,094) — — — — (25,687) (25,687) —

Unrealized losses on available-for-
sale marketable securities, net of 
tax benefit

— — — — (2,645) — (2,645) (2,645)

Foreign currency translation, net of 
tax benefit

— — — — 131 — 131 131

Payment of dividends — — — (11,569) — — (11,569) —

Net income — — — 53,656 — — 53,656 53,656

Balance at December 31, 2004 38,930,648 $ 399 $ 214,987 $ 155,619 $ 1,763 $ (45,307) $ 327,461 $ 51,142

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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THE CORPORATE EXECUTIVE BOARD COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of operations

The Corporate Executive Board Company (the “Company”) provides “best practices” research, decision-support tools, and executive 
education focusing on corporate strategy, operations, and general management issues. Best practices research supports senior 
executive decision making by identifying and analyzing specific management initiatives, processes, and strategies that have been 
determined to produce the best results in solving common business problems or challenges. For a fixed annual fee, members of 
each research program have access to an integrated set of services, including best practices research studies, executive education 
seminars, customized research briefs, and Web-based access to the program’s content database and decision-support tools.

2. Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include accounts of The Corporate Executive Board Company, The Corporate Executive 
Board Company (UK) Ltd., and Corporate Executive Board India Private Ltd. All significant intercompany transactions and 
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

Cash equivalents and marketable securities
Short-term investments and marketable securities that mature within three months of purchase are classified as cash equivalents. 
Short-term investments and marketable securities with maturities of more than three months are classified as marketable securities. 
Marketable securities with maturity dates of less than one year are classified as current assets. As of December 31, 2003 and 2004, 
the Company’s marketable securities consisted primarily of U.S. Treasury notes and bonds and Washington, D.C., tax-exempt 
notes and bonds. The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale, which are carried at fair value based 
on quoted market prices. The net unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale marketable securities are excluded from net 
income and are included within accumulated elements of comprehensive income. The specific identification method is used to 
compute the realized gains and losses on the sale of marketable securities. The Company may elect not to hold these marketable 
securities to maturity and may elect to sell these securities at any time.

Allowance for doubtful accounts
The Company uses estimates to determine the amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts necessary to reduce membership 
fees receivable to their expected net realizable value. The Company estimates the amount of the required allowance by reviewing 
the status of past-due receivables and analyzing historical bad debt trends. The Company charges-off receivables deemed to be 
uncollectible to the allowance for doubtful accounts. Accounts receivable balances are not collateralized.

Property and equipment
Property and equipment consists of furniture, fixtures, equipment, capitalized software and Web site development costs, and 
leasehold improvements. Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation expense. Furniture, fixtures, 
and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 
three to seven years. Capitalized software and Web site development costs are depreciated using the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to five years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated using 
the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term. Replacements and major 
improvements are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Recovery of long-lived assets
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
of an asset may not be recoverable. The Company recognizes an impairment loss when the sum of the expected undiscounted 
future cash flows is less than the carrying amount of the asset. The Company believes that no such impairment existed as of 
December 31, 2003 and 2004.

Revenue recognition
Revenues from membership subscriptions are recognized ratably over the term of the related subscription, which is generally 12 
months. Revenues from implementation-support memberships are recognized as services are performed and are limited by the 
Company’s pro rata refund policy. Membership fees are generally billable, and revenue recognition begins, when the member 
agrees to the terms of the membership. Certain membership fees are billed on an installment basis. Members may request a 
refund of their membership fees, which is provided on a pro rata basis relative to the length of the remaining membership term. 
The Company’s policy is to record the full amount of membership fees receivable as an asset and related deferred revenue as a 
liability when a member agrees to the terms of a membership. Revenues from membership subscriptions were greater than 95% 
of total revenues for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004. In addition, as of December 31, 2002, 2003, 
and 2004, approximately $1.7 million, $2.8 million, and $6.4 million, respectively, of deferred revenues were to be recognized 
beyond the following 12 months.
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Commission expense recognition
Commission expenses related to the negotiation of new memberships and the renewal of existing memberships are deferred and 
amortized over the term of the related memberships.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares outstanding during 
the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares 
outstanding during the period increased by the dilutive effects of potential common shares outstanding during the period. The 
number of potential common shares outstanding has been determined in accordance with the treasury-stock method. Common 
share equivalents consist of common shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding common stock options. A reconciliation 
of basic to diluted weighted average common shares outstanding is as follows (in thousands):

Concentration of credit risk
Financial instruments, which potentially expose the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of membership 
fees receivable and cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to membership 
fees receivable are limited due to the large number of members and their dispersion across many different industries and countries 
worldwide. However, the Company may be exposed to a declining membership base in periods of unforeseen market downturns, 
severe competition, or international developments. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the membership base and 
related membership fees receivable and establishes allowances for potential credit losses.

The Company generates revenues from members located outside of the United States. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 
2003, and 2004, approximately 27%, 25%, and 25% of revenues, respectively, were generated from members located outside of 
the United States. Revenues from customers in European countries were approximately 15%, 14%, and 14% for the years ended 
December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, respectively, with no other geographic area representing more than 10% of revenues in any 
period. No individual member accounted for more than 2% of revenues for any period presented.

The Company maintains a portfolio of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities, which is designed for safety of principal 
and liquidity. Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid U.S. government and U.S. Treasury obligations that mature 
within three months of purchase. Marketable securities consist primarily of U.S. Treasury notes and bonds and Washington, 
D.C., tax-exempt notes and bonds. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to the cash, 
cash equivalents, and marketable securities.

Foreign currency
The functional currency of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries is the local currency. The financial statements of the 
subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars using period-end exchange rates for assets and liabilities and average exchange rates 
during the corresponding period for revenues, expenses, and cash flows. Translation gains and losses as a result of this translation, 
net of related tax effects, are accumulated as a component of accumulated elements of other comprehensive income.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates their carrying value due to their short maturity.

Income taxes
Deferred income taxes are determined on the asset and liability method. Under this method, temporary differences arise as a 
result of the difference between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced 
by a valuation allowance when, in management’s opinion, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets 
will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and tax rates on the date 
of the enactment of the change. The Company believes that its future taxable income will be sufficient for the full realization of 
the deferred income tax assets.

Research and development costs
Costs related to the research and development of new Company programs are expensed in the period incurred. Research and 
development costs were immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004.

 Year Ended December 31,

 2002 2003 2004

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding ............................................................................... 36,722 37,296 38,344

Dilutive common shares outstanding ........................................................................................................ 949 1,281 1,581

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding ........................................................................... 37,671 38,577 39,925
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Stock-based compensation
At December 31, 2004, the Company had several stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described more fully 
in Note 13. These plans provide for the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, and restricted stock to employees 
and nonemployee members of our Board of Directors. The Company accounts for these plans using the intrinsic value method 
of expense recognition and measurement prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and 
related interpretations (collectively, “APB No. 25”). Accordingly, no stock-based compensation cost is reflected in net income, 
as reported, as all stock options granted under the Company’s stock-based employee compensation plans have an exercise price 
equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation (“SFAS No. 123”), as amended by FASB Statement No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation 
Transition and Disclosure, established an alternative method of expense recognition for stock-based compensation awards to 
employees based on fair values. Pro forma information regarding net income is required by SFAS No. 123, as amended, and has 
been determined as if the Company had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair value method as prescribed by 
SFAS No. 123, as amended.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition 
provisions of SFAS No. 123, as amended, to stock-based employee compensation. For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the 
estimated fair value of options is amortized to expense over the vesting period. The provisions of SFAS No. 123, as amended, 
may not necessarily be indicative of future results.

Under the SFAS No. 123, as amended, pro forma disclosure provisions, the fair value of options granted subsequent to December 
15, 1994, has been estimated using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was 
developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. 
In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price 
characteristics that are significantly different from those of traded options. Because changes in the subjective-input assumptions 
can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable 
single measure of the fair value of the Company’s stock rights.

Use of estimates in preparation of financial statements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and costs and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Year Ended December 31,

 2002 2003 2004

Net income, as reported ........................................................................................................ $ 29,601 $ 35,688 $ 53,656

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair 
value–based methods for all awards, net of related tax effects ....................................... (16,538) (17,659) (16,773)

Pro forma net income ........................................................................................................... $ 13,063 $ 18,029 $ 36,883

Earnings per share

Basic—as reported ............................................................................................................ $ 0.81 $ 0.96 $ 1.40

Basic—pro forma .............................................................................................................. $ 0.36 $ 0.48 $ 0.96

Diluted—as reported ........................................................................................................ $ 0.79 $ 0.93 $ 1.34

Diluted—pro forma .......................................................................................................... $ 0.35 $ 0.47 $ 0.93

Assumptions

Dividend yield ................................................................................................................... — — 0.6%

Expected life of option (in years) ..................................................................................... 5 5 5

Expected volatility ............................................................................................................. 63% 55% 40%

Risk-free interest rate ........................................................................................................ 3.1% 2.9% 3.05%

Weighted-average fair value of options granted .............................................................. $ 17.88 $ 16.49 $ 18.19
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4. New accounting pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement No. 123-R, Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123-R”), as a revision to SFAS No. 
123. SFAS No. 123-R focuses primarily on accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-
based payment transactions. SFAS No. 123-R eliminates the alternative to use the intrinsic value method as described in APB No. 
25 and requires entities to recognize the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of equity instruments based 
on the grant-date fair value of those awards (with limited exceptions). Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123-R, the amount of 
tax benefit relating to stock option compensation included in operating cash flows for periods prior to the effective date will be 
reported in financing cash flows once the statement becomes effective. SFAS No. 123-R must be adopted no later than January 1, 
2006, which is the Company’s planned adoption date. SFAS No. 123-R allows for either prospective or retrospective recognition of 
compensation expense. The Company is currently evaluating these transition methods. Accordingly, the Company has continued 
to use APB No. 25 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, and will adopt SFAS No. 123-R effective January 1, 
2006. See Note 3 for the supplemental disclosure of stock based compensation as required by SFAS No. 123, as amended.

5. Marketable securities

The aggregate market value, amortized cost, gross unrealized gains, and gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale marketable 
securities are as follows (in thousands):

The following table summarizes marketable securities maturities (in thousands):

 As of December 31, 2003

Market 
Value

Amortized 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses

U.S. Treasury notes and bonds ........................................................ $ 108,598 $ 106,276 $ 2,756 $ 434

Washington, D.C., tax-exempt notes and bonds ............................ 66,753 62,853 3,900 —

$ 175,351 $ 169,129 $ 6,656 $ 434

 As of December 31, 2004

Market 
Value

Amortized 
Cost

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses

U.S. Treasury notes and bonds ........................................................ $ 254,910 $ 254,974 $ 1,149 $ 1,213

Washington, D.C., tax-exempt notes and bonds ............................ 48,071 45,562 2,509 —

$ 302,981 $ 300,536 $ 3,658 $ 1,213

 As of December 31, 2004

Fair Market 
Value

Amortized 
Cost

Less than 1 year ....................................................................................................................................... $ 50,292 $ 50,451

Matures in 1 to 5 years ............................................................................................................................ 181,698 181,358

Matures in 6 to 10 years .......................................................................................................................... 68,459 66,332

Matures after 10 years ............................................................................................................................. 2,532 2,395

$ 302,981 $ 300,536

The Company may elect not to hold these marketable securities to maturity and may elect to sell these securities at any time. 
Gross realized investment gains on the sale of marketable securities were $0, $0.8 million, and $0.7 million in 2002, 2003, and 
2004, respectively.
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6. Membership fees receivable

Membership fees receivable consists of the following (in thousands): 

7. Property and equipment

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands): 

 As of December 31,

 2003 2004

Billed membership fees receivable ..................................................................................................................... $ 45,345 $ 70,128

Unbilled membership fees receivable ................................................................................................................. 20,690 28,943

66,035 99,071

Reserve for uncollectible revenue ....................................................................................................................... (2,875) (1,965)

Membership fees receivable, net ......................................................................................................................... $ 63,160 $ 97,106

Depreciation expense was $5.5 million, $5.8 million, and $6.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, 
respectively. Included in the amount for 2004, is a charge of $0.6 million for a loss on the disposition of certain property and 
equipment.

8. Non-cash lease restructuring costs

In August 2004, the Company entered into a new 20-year lease agreement for office facilities in Rosslyn, Virginia, beginning in 
early 2008. Contemporaneously with the signing of the new Virginia office facilities lease, the Company’s previous obligations 
for several existing office facility leases were assigned to, and assumed by, the lessor of the new Virginia office facilities. As a result, 
the Company recorded a $5.2 million, net non-cash lease restructuring charge comprising the items further described below. 
The Company recorded a non-cash charge of $5.4 million, which represents our estimate of the lease incentives attributable to 
the assumption of the previous lease agreements by the new lessor. The Company will amortize the $5.4 million accrued lease 
incentive on a straight-line basis over the term of the new Virginia office facilities lease. The Company also recorded a non-
cash charge of $125,000, which represents our estimate of certain restoration costs the Company may be required to pay for 
office space that the Company will no longer occupy. In addition, the Company recorded a non-cash benefit of approximately 
$351,000 for the reversal of a portion of certain deferred rent obligations that were previously being recognized over the life of 
the original lease term, resulting in constant rent expense over the original lease term. The assumption of the lease agreements 
resulted in the reduction of the original lease term and, therefore, the reversal of rent expense previously recognized for deferred 
rent obligations that the Company will no longer incur. The total $5.2 million, net non-cash lease restructuring costs described 
above are included within “Non-cash lease restructuring costs” in the consolidated statements of income.

The Company also incurred approximately $909,000 for additional external financial and legal consulting costs to restructure 
existing lease agreements and for the write-off of certain deferred leasehold improvement costs for office space that we will 
no longer occupy. These cash expenses and costs are included with “General and administrative expenses” in the consolidated 
statements of income.

As of December 31,

 2003 2004

Furniture, fixtures, and equipment ................................................................................................................... $ 14,358 $ 14,263

Software and Web site development costs ........................................................................................................ 9,546 8,994

Leasehold improvements ................................................................................................................................... 10,144 8,710

34,048 31,967

Accumulated depreciation ................................................................................................................................. (18,583) (14,570)

Property and equipment, net ............................................................................................................................ $ 15,465 $ 17,397
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9. Income taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands): 

Year Ended December 31,

 2002 2003 2004

Current tax expense ............................................................................................................... $ 18,418 $ 19,523 $ 18,643

Deferred tax expense .............................................................................................................. 152 8,784 8,086

Provision for income taxes .................................................................................................... $ 18,570 $ 28,307 $ 26,729

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income taxes determined by applying the U.S. federal income tax 
statutory rates to income before provision for income taxes as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

 2002 2003 2004

Statutory U.S. federal income tax rate .................................................................................. 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State income tax, net of U.S. federal income tax benefit ...................................................... 6.5 — 0.4

Foreign income tax ................................................................................................................ — — 0.3

Write-down of deferred tax assets, net, related to a change in tax status ............................ — 12.8 —

Permanent differences and credits, net ................................................................................. (2.9) (3.6) (2.4)

Effective tax rate ................................................................................................................. 38.6% 44.2% 33.3%

See “Washington, D.C., income tax incentives” below for a discussion of an $8.2 million non-cash charge to earnings during the 
year ended December 31, 2003, for the impact on the Company’s deferred tax assets of lowering the Washington, D.C., income 
tax rate to 0.0% associated with a change in the Company’s tax status.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
consist of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

 2003 2004

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards ................................................................................................................... $ 26,615 $ 13,323

Tax credit carryforwards ................................................................................................................................. 8,252 10,380

Accrued incentive compensation agreements ............................................................................................... 3,175 2,710

Deferred revenue ............................................................................................................................................. 2,646 2,226

Non-cash lease incentive ................................................................................................................................ — 2,164

Operating leases .............................................................................................................................................. 1,083 1,303

Financial reporting reserves ........................................................................................................................... 1,007 688

Depreciation .................................................................................................................................................... — 169

Employee benefits ........................................................................................................................................... 65 —

Total deferred tax assets .............................................................................................................................. 42,843 32,963

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred incentive compensation .................................................................................................................. 2,566 2,407

Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities, net ................................................................................... 2,178 813

Employee benefits ........................................................................................................................................... — 156

Depreciation .................................................................................................................................................... 426 —

Total deferred tax liabilities ........................................................................................................................ 5,170 3,376

Deferred tax assets, net ............................................................................................................................... $ 37,673 $ 29,587



24

The Company has deferred income tax assets, consisting primarily of net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards for regular federal 
income tax purposes generated from the exercise of common stock options and from federal and Washington, D.C., income tax 
credits. In estimating future tax consequences, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, Accounting for Income 
Taxes (“SFAS No. 109”), generally considers all expected future events in the determination and valuation of deferred tax assets 
and liabilities. The Company believes that its future taxable income will be sufficient for the full realization of the deferred income 
tax assets. However, SFAS 109 does not consider the effect of future changes in existing tax laws or rates in the determination 
and valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities until the new tax laws or rates are enacted. We have established our deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax laws and rates that are expected to apply to taxable income in the 
periods in which the deferred tax asset or liability is expected to be realized or settled. The Company will recognize into income 
an adjustment for the impact of new tax laws or rates or from changes in our tax status on the existing deferred tax assets and 
liabilities when new tax laws or rates are enacted or the change in status occurs.

The Company has net operating losses that resulted in a deferred tax asset of $26.6 million and $13.3 million at December 31, 
2003 and 2004, respectively. The utilization of these carryforwards as an available offset to future taxable income may become 
subject to limitations under U.S. federal income tax laws. If the net operating losses are not utilized, they expire in varying 
amounts, starting in 2019 and continuing through 2023. The Company has realized current tax benefits (reductions of taxes 
payable) resulting from the use of net operating loss carryforwards of $18.4 million, $19.5 million, and $14.9 million in the years 
ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, respectively.

The Company has tax credit carryforwards that have resulted in deferred tax assets of $8.3 million and $10.4 million at December 
31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Included within these tax credit amounts at December 31, 2003 and 2004, are federal and 
Washington, D.C., income tax credits of $6.9 million and $8.7 million, respectively, which expire in the years 2010 through 2019 
and federal income tax credits of $1.4 million and $1.7 million, respectively, that do not expire.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries amounted to approximately $1.4 million at December 31, 2004. 
Those earnings are considered to be indefinitely reinvested; accordingly, no provision for U.S. federal and state income taxes 
has been provided thereon. Upon repatriation of those earnings, in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be 
subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes payable to the various 
foreign countries. Determination of the amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. income tax liability is not practicable due to 
the complexities associated with its hypothetical calculation; however, unrecognized foreign tax credit carryforwards would be 
available to reduce some portion of the U.S. liability. Withholding taxes of approximately $0.2 million would be payable upon 
remittance of all previously unremitted earnings at December 31, 2004. There were no undistributed earnings of the Company’s 
foreign subsidiaries for the years prior to 2004.

Washington, D.C., income tax incentives 
The Office of Tax and Revenue of the Government of the District of Columbia (the “Office of Tax and Revenue”) has adopted 
regulations in accordance with the New E-Conomy Transformation Act of 2000 (the “Act”) that modify the income and franchise 
tax, sales and use tax, and personal property tax regulations, effective April 2001. Specifically, the regulations provide certain credits, 
exemptions, and other benefits to a Qualified High-Technology Company (“QHTC”). In October 2003, the Company received 
notification from the Office of Tax and Revenue that its certification as a QHTC under the Act had been accepted. As a QHTC, 
the Company’s Washington, D.C., statutory income tax rate will be 0.0% through 2005 and 6.0% thereafter, versus 9.975% prior 
to this qualification, and the Company is also eligible for certain Washington, D.C., income tax credits and other benefits.

The Company recorded a non-cash income tax charge to earnings of $8.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, for 
the impact on its deferred tax assets of lowering the Washington, D.C., income tax rate to 0.0%, partially offset by the recognition 
of certain Washington, D.C., income tax credits.

10. Comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as net income (loss) plus the net-of-tax impact of foreign currency items, minimum 
pension liability adjustments, and unrealized gains and losses on certain investments in debt and equity securities. Comprehensive 
income for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, was $33.7 million, $34.7 million, and $51.1 million, respectively. The 
accumulated elements of other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, included within stockholders’ equity on the consolidated 
balance sheets comprise the net change in unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale marketable securities and foreign currency 
translation adjustments. Unrealized gains (losses), net of tax, on available-for-sale marketable securities amounted to $4.1 million, 
($1.0) million and ($2.6) million during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, respectively. The tax expense (benefit) 
associated with unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale marketable securities included within comprehensive income (loss) 
is $2.6 million, ($1.2) million, and ($1.4) million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004.
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11. Employee benefit plans

Defined contribution 401(k) Plan
The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) Plan (the “Plan”) in which the Company’s employees participate. Pursuant 
to the Plan, all employees who have reached the age of 21 are eligible to participate. The employer provides a discretionary 
contribution equal to 25% of an employee’s contribution up to a maximum of 4% of base salary. Contributions to the Plan for 
the participants were $0.4 million, $0.5 million, and $0.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, 
respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Company sponsors an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). Under the ESPP, employees authorize payroll deductions 
from 1% to 10% of their eligible compensation to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. The ESPP is authorized to 
issue up to 1,050,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, the 
Company issued 25,133 shares; 25,566 shares; and 22,144 shares of common stock, respectively, under the ESPP.

12. Public offerings of common stock

In March 2002, March 2003, and May 2004, 2.1 million shares; 588,000 shares; and 1.9 million shares, respectively, of the Company’s 
common stock were sold in registered public offerings. The Company did not directly receive any proceeds from the sale of its 
common stock. All of the shares sold in the foregoing offerings were sold by stockholders and option holders. However, the 
Company did receive cash from the exercise of common stock options in conjunction with the sale of its common stock.

13. Stock option plans

Stock-Based Incentive Compensation Plan
In October 1997, the Company adopted the Stock-Based Incentive Compensation Plan (the “1997 Plan”). The 1997 Plan provides 
for the issuance of options to purchase up to 11,008,000 shares of common stock. Any shares of common stock that, for any 
reason, are not issued under the 1997 Plan are reserved for issuance pursuant to the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Plan”). 
As of December 31, 2004, 10,569,400 options, net of cancellations, to purchase common stock had been granted under the 1997 
Plan and 438,600 options, net of cancellations, to purchase common stock had been granted under the 1999 Plan. The Options 
granted under the 1997 Plan expired in April 2003.

1999 Stock Option Plan
In February 1999, the Company adopted the 1999 Plan, which provides for the issuance of options to purchase up to 3,784,000 
shares of common stock plus any options to purchase shares of common stock that, for any reason, are not issued under the 
1997 Plan. During 2002, the Company granted 16,000 options to purchase common stock under the 1999 Plan at a weighted 
average exercise price of $32.86 per share. During 2003, the Company granted 225,000 options to purchase common stock under 
the 1999 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $31.65 per share. During 2004, the Company granted 97,197 options to 
purchase common stock under the 1999 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $46.88 per share. As of December 31, 2004, 
4,190,600 options, net of cancellations and including 438,600 shares of common stock carried over from the 1997 Plan, had been 
granted under the 1999 Plan. The common stock options granted under the 1999 Plan generally become exercisable 25% per 
year beginning one year from the date of grant and expire between February 2009 and February 2014. As more fully described 
in the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”) section below, in July 2004, Company stockholders approved the new 2004 
Plan. With stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan, the 1999 Plan was suspended, and no new grants will be made under the 
1999 Plan. Stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan terminated the Company’s ability to issue 28,500 options remaining under 
the 1999 Plan.

2001 Stock Option Plan
In June 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 Stock Option Plan (the “2001 Plan”), which provides for the issuance of options 
to purchase up to 2,700,000 shares of common stock. During 2002, the Company granted 940,000 options to purchase common 
stock under the 2001 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $32.37 per share. During 2003, the Company granted 525,000 
options to purchase common stock under the 2001 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $32.30 per share. During 2004, 
the Company granted 512,803 options to purchase common stock under the 2001 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of 
$45.10 per share. As of December 31, 2004, 1,892,803 options, net of cancellations, had been granted under the 2001 Plan. The 
common stock options granted under the 2001 Plan generally become exercisable 25% per year beginning one year from the date 
of grant and expire between August 2011 and March 2013. As more fully described in the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 
Plan”) section below, in July 2004, Company stockholders approved the new 2004 Plan. With stockholder approval of the 2004 
Plan, the 2001 Plan was suspended, and no new grants will be made under the 2001 Plan. Stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan 
terminated the Company’s ability to issue 807,197 options remaining under the 2001 Plan.
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2002 Non-Executive Stock Incentive Plan 
In March 2002, the Company adopted the 2002 Non-Executive Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2002 Plan”), which provides 
for the issuance up to 7,300,000 shares of common stock under stock options or restricted stock grants. Any person who is an 
employee or prospective employee of the Company is eligible for the grant of awards under the 2002 Plan, unless such person is 
an officer or director of the Company. The terms of awards granted under the 2002 Plan, including vesting, forfeiture, and post-
termination exercisability are set by the plan administrator, subject to certain restrictions set forth in the 2002 Plan. During 2002, 
the Company granted 1,115,000 options to purchase common stock under the 2002 Plan at a weighted average exercise price 
of $32.31 per share. During 2003, the Company granted 1,058,000 options to purchase common stock under the 2002 Plan at a 
weighted average exercise price of $32.40 per share. During 2004, the Company granted 769,500 options to purchase common 
stock under the 2002 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $45.16 per share. As of December 31, 2004, 2,762,125 options, 
net of cancellations, had been granted under the 2002 Plan. The common stock options granted under the 2002 Plan generally 
become exercisable 25% per year beginning one year from the date of grant and expire between March 2011 and February 2014. 
As more fully described in the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”) section below, in July 2004, Company stockholders 
approved the new 2004 Plan. With stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan, the 2002 Plan was suspended, and no new grants 
will be made under the 2002 Plan. Stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan terminated the Company’s ability to issue 4,503,625 
options remaining under the 2002 Plan.

2004 Stock Incentive Plan
In July 2004, the stockholders approved and the Company adopted the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”), which 
provides for the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, deferred stock units, 
and incentive bonuses. The 2004 Plan provides for the issuance of up to 4,000,000 shares of common stock plus any shares 
subject to outstanding awards under the 1999 Plan, the 2001 Plan, or the 2002 Plan that, on or after June 11, 2004, cease for any 
reason to be subject to such awards (other than by reason of exercise or settlement of the awards to the extent they are exercised 
for or settled in vested and nonforfeitable shares), up to an aggregate maximum of 9,400,000 shares. With stockholder approval 
of the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Plan”), the 1999 Plan, the 2001 Plan, and the 2002 Plan were suspended, and no 
new grants will be made under the 1999 Plan, 2001 Plan, or 2002 Plan. Stockholder approval of the 2004 Plan terminated the 
Company’s ability to issue approximately 5.3 million options under the 1999 Plan, 2001 Plan, and 2002 Plan. During 2004, the 
Company granted 86,000 options to purchase common stock under the 2004 Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $56.15 
per share. As of December 31, 2004, 86,000 options, net of cancellations, had been granted under the 2004 Plan. The common 
stock options granted under the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan generally become exercisable 25% per year beginning one year from 
the date of grant and expire between July 2011 and November 2011.

Directors’ Stock Option Plan 
In December 1998, the Company adopted the Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Directors’ Plan”), which provides for the 
issuance of options to purchase up to 860,000 shares of common stock. Pursuant to FASB Interpretation 44, stock incentives 
granted to non-employee members of our Board of Directors are accounted for under the provisions of APB No. 25. During 
2002, the Company granted 40,000 options to purchase common stock under the Directors’ Plan at a weighted average exercise 
price of $32.41 per share. During 2003, the Company granted 112,240 options to purchase common stock under the Directors’ 
Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $44.05 per share. During 2004, the Company granted 120,000 options to purchase 
common stock under the Directors’ Plan at a weighted average exercise price of $50.75 per share. As of December 31, 2004, 
805,680 options, net of cancellations, to purchase common stock had been granted under the Directors’ Plan. The common 
stock options granted under the Directors’ Plan generally become 100% exercisable one year from the date of grant and expire 
between December 2008 and October 2014.
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Number of 
Options

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price

2002

Options outstanding, beginning of year ................................................................................................... 5,467,968 $ 15.78

Options granted ..................................................................................................................................... 2,111,000 32.34

Options canceled ................................................................................................................................... (299,912) 27.31

Options exercised ................................................................................................................................... (2,259,653) 5.76

Options outstanding, end of year ............................................................................................................. 5,019,403 26.61

Options exercisable, end of year ................................................................................................................ 1,003,913 21.41

2003

Options outstanding, beginning of year ................................................................................................... 5,019,403 $ 26.61

Options granted ..................................................................................................................................... 1,920,240 32.97

Options canceled ................................................................................................................................... (135,641) 29.23

Options exercised ................................................................................................................................... (626,663) 13.44

Options outstanding, end of year ............................................................................................................. 6,177,339 29.89

Options exercisable, end of year ................................................................................................................ 1,974,974 26.30

2004

Options outstanding, beginning of year ................................................................................................... 6,177,339 $ 29.89

Options granted ..................................................................................................................................... 1,585,500 46.26

Options canceled ................................................................................................................................... (216,603) 31.44

Options exercised ................................................................................................................................... (2,134,530) 26.01

Options outstanding, end of year ............................................................................................................. 5,411,706 36.20

Options exercisable, end of year ................................................................................................................ 1,413,331 31.85

Transactions
The following table summarizes the changes in common stock options for the common stock option plans previously described:
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Information with respect to the common stock option plans outstanding at December 31, 2004, is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of 
Exercise Prices

Number 
Outstanding as of 

December 31, 2004

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life-Years

Number 
Exercisable as of 

December 31, 2004

Weighted 
Average 

Exercise Price

$7.12–$32.23 838,062 $ 28.67 6.31 451,937 $ 27.31

32.30–32.30 1,436,682 32.30 8.19 226,182 32.30

32.41–32.41 1,267,222 32.41 7.18 547,472 32.41

32.50–44.28 212,000 34.80 7.11 115,500 34.45

45.10–45.10 1,379,000 45.10 6.21 — —

46.45–67.68 278,740 53.13 7.91 72,240 50.55

$7.12–$67.68 5,411,706 $ 36.20 7.10 1,413,331 $ 31.85

14. Supplemental cash flows disclosures

The Company paid no income taxes during the year ended December 31, 2002. During 2003 and 2004, the Company made 
estimated income tax payments of approximately $1.0 million and $600,000, respectively, for alternative minimum tax purposes. 
For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, the Company recognized $22.2 million, $4.5 million, and $15.2 million, 
respectively, in stockholders’ equity for tax deductions associated with the exercise of non-qualified stock options.

15. Commitments and contingencies

Operating leases
The Company leases office facilities in the United States, United Kingdom, and India expiring on various dates over the next 
23 years. Certain lease agreements include provisions for rental escalations and require the Company to pay for executory costs 
such as taxes and insurance. Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable operating leases, excluding executory costs, 
are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31, 

2005 .......................................................................................................................... $ 10,549

2006 .......................................................................................................................... 15,276

2007 .......................................................................................................................... 15,625

2008 .......................................................................................................................... 26,442

2009 .......................................................................................................................... 30,336

Thereafter ................................................................................................................. 491,523

Total ...................................................................................................................... $ 589,751

Rent expense charged to operations during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002, 2003, and 2004, was $7.9 million, $9.6 million, 
and $9.3 million, respectively. The Company has entered into letter of credit agreements of $25.0 million, $2.3 million, $0.7 million, 
and $0.5 million that expire February 2005, January 2019, June 2005, and August 2005, respectively, to provide security deposits 
for certain office space leases. Under the terms of the new Rosslyn, Virginia, lease agreement, the Company has committed to 
providing the landlord security deposits totaling $50 million to be posted in two installments. To date, the Company has entered 
into a letter of credit agreement for $25.0 million with a commercial bank to provide a security deposit for the Rosslyn, Virginia, 
lease. The letter of credit will expire in February 2005 but can be extended until August 2009. The Company has pledged certain 
assets as collateral under the letter of credit agreements. To date, no amounts have been drawn on these agreements.

From time to time, the Company is subject to ordinary routine litigation incidental to its normal business operations. The 
Company is not currently a party to, and the Company’s property is not subject to, any material legal proceedings.
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16. Quarterly financial data (unaudited)

Unaudited summarized financial data by quarter for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, is as follows (in thousands, 
except per share amounts):

2003 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Revenues ........................................................................................... $ 47,283 $ 50,339 $ 53,758 $ 58,831

Gross profit ....................................................................................... 31,165 33,302 35,533 39,237

Income before provision for income taxes ..................................... 13,756 15,656 16,447 18,136

Net income ....................................................................................... $ 8,336 $ 9,487 $ 5,513 $ 12,352

Earnings per share

Basic .............................................................................................. $ 0.22 $ 0.25 $ 0.15 $ 0.33

Diluted .......................................................................................... $ 0.22 $ 0.25 $ 0.14 $ 0.32

2004 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

Revenues ........................................................................................... $ 63,979 $ 67,198 $ 72,424 $ 77,123

Gross profit ....................................................................................... 42,579 44,966 50,572 51,322

Income before provision for income taxes ..................................... 17,880 19,005 18,047 25,453

Net income ....................................................................................... $ 11,980 $ 12,733 $ 11,954 $ 16,989

Earnings per share

Basic .............................................................................................. $ 0.32 $ 0.33 $ 0.31 $ 0.44

Diluted .......................................................................................... $ 0.31 $ 0.32 $ 0.30 $ 0.42
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT’S ASSESSMENT OF INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 

Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the consolidated financial statements appearing in our Annual 
Report. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States and include amounts based on management’s estimates and judgments. All other financial information in this 
report has been presented on a basis consistent with the information included in the consolidated financial statements.

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. We maintain 
a system of internal control that is designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliable preparation and presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, as well as to safeguard assets 
from unauthorized use or disposition.

Our control environment is the foundation for our system of internal control over financial reporting and is reflected in our Code 
of Ethics for Directors, Executives and Employees. It sets the tone of our organization and includes factors such as integrity and 
ethical values. Our internal control over financial reporting is supported by formal policies and procedures which are reviewed, 
modified and improved as changes occur in business conditions and operations.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, which is composed solely of outside directors, meets periodically with members 
of management and the independent auditors to review and discuss internal control over financial reporting and accounting and 
financial reporting matters. The independent auditors report to the Audit Committee and accordingly have full and free access 
to the Audit Committee at any time.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 
based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission. This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls, evaluation of the design effectiveness 
of controls, testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and a conclusion on this evaluation. Based on this evaluation, 
management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment 
of internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein.

James J. McGonigle 
Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer
February 28, 2005

Timothy R. Yost 
Chief Financial Officer
February 28, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The Corporate Executive Board Company: 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Report of Management’s Assessment of Internal Controls, 
that The Corporate Executive Board Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 
31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Corporate Executive Board Company’s management is 
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We 
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) 
pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the 
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide 
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because 
of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that The Corporate Executive Board Company maintained effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our 
opinion, The Corporate Executive Board Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
the consolidated balance sheets of The Corporate Executive Board Company as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2004, and our report dated February 25, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

 

Baltimore, Maryland
February 25, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The Corporate Executive Board Company: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Corporate Executive Board Company as of December 
31, 2003 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of The Corporate Executive Board Company at December 31, 2003 and 2004, and the consolidated results of its operations and 
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
effectiveness of The Corporate Executive Board Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based 
on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Baltimore, Maryland
February 25, 2005
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